NO. 70298-0

NO. 70299-

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

LG ELECTRONICS, INC. et al.,

Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

David Kerwin  
Assistant Attorney General  
WSBA 35162  
800 5th Avenue, Suite 2000  
Seattle, WA 98104  
(206) 464-7030

FILED  
2020  
APR 15  
10:00 AM  
CLERK OF COURT  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION I  
SEATTLE, WA  
60

##

## I. INTRODUCTION

Defendants<sup>1</sup> participated in a massive conspiracy to fix the prices of CRT<sup>2</sup> panels that were distributed throughout the United States and purchased in Washington State in televisions, laptops, and monitors. This case presents the question of whether a state court can constitutionally exercise jurisdiction over these defendants in a Consumer Protection Act enforcement action. It is also the only possible avenue of redress for millions of consumers who are victims of the Defendants' illegal activity.

This case was brought pursuant to the Consumer Protection Act's long-arm statute, which authorizes out-of-state personal service of process on any person "if such person has engaged in conduct in violation of this chapter which has had impact in this state which [the Consumer Protection Act] reprehends." RCW 19.86.160.

A state court properly exercises personal jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant where the defendant has sufficient minimum contacts with the forum state and exercising jurisdiction would not offend

---

<sup>1</sup> Defendants dismissed below, which are subject to this motion, are Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V., Philips Electronics Industries (Taiwan), Ltd., Panasonic Corporation, Hitachi Displays, Ltd., Hitachi Asia, Ltd., Hitachi Electronic Devices (USA), Inc., LG Electronics, Inc., Samsung SDI, Samsung SDI America, Samsung SDI Mexico, Samsung SDI Brazil, Samsung SDI Shenzhen, Samsung SDI Tianjin, and Samsung SDI Malaysia. Other named Defendants were not dismissed and remain parties.

<sup>2</sup> A cathode ray tube, commonly referred to as a CRT, is a piece of technology consisting of a vacuum tube in which a hot cathode emits electrons and a picture is produced on a screen. This was the dominant technology used in televisions, computer monitors, and other display units prior to the ascendancy of flat screen technology.

traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. A defendant has sufficient minimum contacts when it purposefully avails itself of the privilege of conducting business in the forum state. Under the standard articulated by a majority of the U.S. Supreme Court in World-Wide Volkswagen v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 297-98, 100 S. Ct. 559, 62 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1980), and adopted by the Washington Supreme Court, a non-resident defendant purposefully avails itself of a forum when the sale of its products in the forum state arise from the defendant's efforts, directly or indirectly, to target its products to that state. This standard is amply satisfied here, where Defendants have purposefully caused to be delivered hundreds of millions of CRT panels to the United States, a sizeable number of which were eventually, inevitably, purchased as part of finished goods in Washington State.

In addition, asserting jurisdiction over Defendants comports with traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. There is no alternative forum for this action, and it is the sole means by which Washington's consumers and state agencies can be compensated for their injuries under the Consumer Protection Act. The exercise of jurisdiction is patently reasonable here. The State pled sufficient facts, uncontested by Defendants, to support jurisdiction and to overcome a motion to dismiss.

Finally, this Court should reverse the trial court orders granting Defendants' attorneys' fees. The trial court incorrectly applied the general long-arm statute when considering fees, instead of the specific provisions of the Consumer Protection Act which are controlling.

## **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The trial court erred in granting Defendants' Motions to Dismiss where Defendants had sufficient contacts with Washington State and the exercise of jurisdiction comported with notions of fair play and substantial justice. CP 584-593.

2. The trial court erred in not allowing jurisdictional discovery to be conducted. CP 584-593.

3. The trial court erred in concluding that RCW 4.28.185(5), rather than RCW 19.86.080(1), provides the analytical framework for the award of attorneys' fees when the state brings an action to enforce the Consumer Protection Act. CP 1070-1080.

## **III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Does jurisdiction under the Consumer Protection Act exist where a foreign defendant knowingly and intentionally targets a high volume of price-fixed products to Washington State consumers? [Assignment of Error 1]

2. Does jurisdiction exist where, under an analysis of traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice, there is no other available forum for Washington State consumers to seek relief? [Assignment of Error 1]

3. Did the trial court err in failing to order jurisdictional discovery where the extent of Defendants' contacts with Washington and level of intent to reach Washington markets are at issue? [Assignment of Error 2]

4. Did the trial court err in concluding that Defendants are entitled to request attorneys' fees under RCW 4.28.185(5), a statutory provision of general applicability, when the Consumer Protection Act specifically provides for the award of attorneys' fees and has been interpreted to embody a set of legal and policy considerations that are unique to a state enforcement action? [Assignment of Error 3]

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### **A. Defendants' Participation in a Price-Fixing Conspiracy.**

As detailed in the underlying Complaint, Defendants were participants in a global price-fixing conspiracy that saw an enormous quantity of price-fixed CRT products, including televisions and computer monitors, sold into Washington State where they were purchased at inflated prices by this state's consumers. One defendant, Samsung SDI, paid a \$32,000,000 fine to the United States Department of Justice and

pled guilty to violating Section 1 of the Sherman Act by fixing prices, reducing output and allocating market shares of CRT Products. Compl. ¶ 96, CP 25. Several executives from various defendant corporations have been indicted by a federal grand jury. Compl. ¶ 99, CP 25. Defendant Chunghwa is actively cooperating with the Department of Justice regarding the federal government's investigation into the massive price-fixing enterprise. Compl. ¶ 100, CP 25. The same price-fixing scheme involving Defendants is, or has been, the subject of litigation in many private actions (MDL No. 1917, Case No. 3:07-CV-5944, In Re Cathode Ray Tube (CRT) Antitrust Litigation, in the US District Court for the Northern District of California), and several state actions, including complaints brought by the states of Florida (consolidated with MDL No. 1917), California (Case No. CGC-11-51578, Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Francisco), Oregon (Case No. 120810246, Circuit Court of the State of Oregon, County of Multnomah), and Illinois (Case No. 12CH35266, Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois County Department, Chancery Division).

**B. The Washington Attorney General's Action.**

The complaint alleges that, beginning from at least March 1, 1995, through at least November 25, 2007, Defendants participated in a worldwide conspiracy to fix the prices of CRTs which resulted in higher

prices for Washington State citizens and state agencies purchasing products containing CRTs. CP 2. The State alleges that Defendants manufactured, marketed, sold, and/or distributed CRTs and CRT products to customers in Washington State, and that they knew or expected that millions of products containing their CRTs would be sold into Washington. CP 17. The State seeks (1) injunctive relief, (2) civil penalties, (3) damages for state agencies, and (4) restitution for consumers who purchased CRTs directly from Defendants or indirectly through a finished good. CP 27-28.

**C. Procedural History.**

After accepting service of process, and prior to any discovery being conducted, Defendants filed motions, supported by declarations, to dismiss the State's lawsuit for lack of personal jurisdiction. CP 29-110, 127-208. The State, while conceding the court had no general jurisdiction over Defendants, argued that it had pled facts sufficient to support personal jurisdiction. CP 209-268. The trial court disagreed and granted those motions. CP 584-593. Upon an agreed motion, the court entered Final Judgment and the State filed a timely appeal. CP 598-642.

During the pendency of this appeal, the trial court considered applications for attorneys' fees made by Defendants. CP 643-655, 765-779, 803-815, 930-941. The court awarded fees to the Defendants

pursuant to RCW 4.28.185. CP 1070-1080. Pursuant to RAP 2.4(g), the State herein includes its appeal of those awards.

By stipulation of the parties, the underlying litigation is currently stayed.

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. The Standard of Review is *De Novo*.

A plaintiff need only make a prima facie showing of jurisdiction. Freestone Capital Partners L.P. v. MKA Real Estate Opportunity Fund I, LLC, 155 Wn. App. 643, 654, 230 P.3d 625 (2010). The court must view the allegations in the complaint as established for purposes of determining jurisdiction. Id. All facts, and reasonable inferences drawn from the facts, are reviewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Id. at 653-54. When the trial court considers matters outside the pleadings on a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, the Court reviews the trial court's ruling under a *de novo* standard of review. Id. at 653.

The trial court's orders granting fees are subject to *de novo* review because they are premised upon a legal determination that RCW 4.28.185, rather than the Consumer Protection Act, governs the award of fees in this case. Thus, the issue before the Court is a question of statutory interpretation, and "[s]tatutory interpretations are questions of law

reviewed *de novo*.” Kustura v. Dep’t of Labor and Indus., 169 Wn.2d 81, 233 P.3d 853 (2010).

**B. The Consumer Protection Act’s Long-Arm Statute Confers Jurisdiction Over Defendants.**

Washington courts have jurisdiction over a foreign corporation when (1) a state long-arm statute confers jurisdiction; and (2) imposing jurisdiction does not violate constitutional principles. See Grange Ins. Ass’n v. State, 110 Wn.2d 752, 756, 757 P.2d 933 (1988). In Washington, a court’s ability to exercise long-arm jurisdiction over a foreign defendant operates to the fullest extent permitted by due process. Freestone Capital Partners L.P. v. MKA Real Estate Opportunity Fund I, LLC, 155 Wn. App. 643, 652, 230 P.3d 625 (2010).

Jurisdiction over Defendants exists pursuant to RCW 19.86.160, the Consumer Protection Act’s long-arm statute. See State v. Reader’s Digest Ass’n, Inc., 81 Wn.2d 259, 276, 501 P.2d 290 (1972) (applying RCW 19.86.160, the “long-arm provision in the Consumer Protection Act”). RCW 19.86.160 states:

Personal service of any process in an action under this chapter may be made upon any person outside the state if such person has engaged in conduct in violation of this chapter which has had the impact in this state which this chapter reprehends. Such persons shall be deemed to have thereby submitted themselves to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state within the meaning of RCW 4.28.180 and 4.28.185.



Defendants' participation in a price-fixing conspiracy constitutes a violation of the Act's prohibition on restraints of trade. See RCW 19.86.030 (prohibiting every contract, combination, or conspiracy in restraint of trade); Ballo v. James S. Black Co., Inc., 39 Wn. App. 21, 26, 692 P.2d 182 (1984) (referring to price-fixing as *per se* illegal). Defendants' conduct impacted the state by causing state agencies and consumers to pay inflated prices for products containing Defendants' products. Thus, the only inquiry for this Court is whether the assertion of jurisdiction comports with due process.

**C. The Exercise of Jurisdiction Over Defendants Does Not Violate Due Process.**

A state court's assertion of personal jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant is consistent with due process if that defendant has sufficient minimum contacts with the forum state, and maintenance of the suit would not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 471-72, 476, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985) (citing Int'l Shoe Co. v. State of Wash., 326 U.S. 310, 316, 66 S. Ct. 154, 90 L. Ed. 95 (1945)). Where, as here, the assertion of jurisdiction arises from a defendant's activities within the forum, a state court exercises specific, rather than general

jurisdiction.<sup>3</sup> The Washington Supreme Court applies a three-part test to determine when a court may exercise specific personal jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant. A non-resident defendant must (1) purposefully do some act or consummate some transaction in the forum state; (2) the cause of action must arise from, or be connected with, such act or transaction; and (3) the assumption of jurisdiction by the forum state must not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. Grange, 110 Wn.2d at 758.

The exercise of jurisdiction in this case falls squarely within the bounds of due process. Case law establishes that Defendants have purposefully availed themselves in Washington State by releasing hundreds of millions of their CRTs into the stream of commerce with the expectation and intent that they would be incorporated into finished goods to be sold throughout the United States. Defendants' conduct spanned many years, and it targeted as broad a market as possible, in part by selling products to companies that directly do business in the U.S. through retail distribution. In addition, this action arises from Defendants' contacts with the state. By purchasing products containing Defendants' price-fixed

---

<sup>3</sup> General jurisdiction exists when the non-resident defendant's affiliations with the state are so continuous and systematic as to render them essentially at home in the forum state. Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, SA v. Brown, 131 S. Ct. 2846 (2011). The state does not allege that a state court can exercise general jurisdiction over Defendants.

panels, consumers and state agencies were harmed, and this enforcement action arises out of those purchases. Finally, the exercise of jurisdiction over Defendants does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. There is no other forum for this action and, without it, consumers in Washington State will be left with no remedy for Defendants' predatory behavior.

**1. Defendants Purposefully Availed Themselves in Washington State.**

In order to satisfy the minimum contacts standard, "there must be some act by which [a non-resident defendant] purposefully avails itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum state, thus invoking the benefits and protections of its laws." Burger King, 471 U.S. at 474; CTVC of Hawaii Co., Ltd., v. Shinawatra, 82 Wn. App. 699, 710, 919 P.2d 1243 (1996). The purposeful availment requirement ensures that a defendant will not be haled into a jurisdiction solely as a result of random or attenuated contacts, or of the unilateral activity of another party or a third person. Burger King, 471 U.S. at 475. Ultimately, "[i]t is the quality and nature of the activities which determine if the contact is sufficient, not the number of acts or mechanical standards." Perry v. Hamilton, 51 Wn. App. 936, 940, 756 P.2d 150 (1980).

A non-resident manufacturer purposefully avails itself of a forum state where it delivers its products into the stream of commerce with the expectation that they will be purchased by consumers in the forum state. World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 297-98, 100 S. Ct. 559, 62 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1980); Grange, 110 Wn.2d at 761-62 (stating, “[t]his court has decided that purposeful minimum contacts are established when an out-of-state manufacturer places its products in the stream of interstate commerce . . .”). This rule does not authorize jurisdiction in a scenario where the sale of a product is merely an isolated occurrence. Rather, if the sale “arises from the efforts of the manufacturer or distributor to serve, directly or indirectly, the market for its products in other States, it is not unreasonable to subject it to suit in one of those States if its allegedly defective merchandise has there been the source of injury to its owner or to others.” World-Wide Volkswagen, 444 U.S. at 297-98. This standard rests not on the mere foreseeability that a product may find its way into the forum state. Rather, it is whether a defendant’s conduct and connection with the forum state are such that he should reasonably anticipate being haled into court there. Id. at 297.

Defendants’ conduct falls squarely within the constitutional bounds set out in World-Wide Volkswagen. Defendants’ CRTs were incorporated into countless televisions, monitors, and notebook computers

that were intentionally and purposefully marketed in the United States during the course of the conspiracy. Defendants' calculated efforts to target as wide a market as possible through, and deriving monetary benefit from, their indirect sales into Washington, are precisely the level of contacts sufficient for the exercise of jurisdiction under World-Wide Volkswagen.

In reliance upon the principles laid down in World-Wide Volkswagen, many federal courts have exercised jurisdiction over foreign manufacturers that specifically contemplated sales into the U.S. through nationwide distribution. For example, the Federal District Court for the Southern District of Texas exercised jurisdiction over AMPEP, a European manufacturer of ball-bearings for helicopters. Williamson v. Petroleum Helicopters, Inc., 31 F. Supp. 2d 548 (S.D. Tex. 1998). AMPEP argued that it had no employees or representatives in Texas, did not dispatch any representatives or solicit business in Texas, and that less than 1% of its total sales derived from the U.S. The court nonetheless found that the exercise of jurisdiction was appropriate. It noted that AMPEP sold its bearings for use in "virtually all makes of European helicopters" and that therefore "the possibility that helicopters using its bearings would end up [in the forum state] was foreseeable." Id. at 551-52. The court went on to hold:

[T]he essential analysis concerns itself not with the product that actually caused the accident but rather with the total number of products fabricated by the defendant and incorporated as component parts of products sold throughout the stream of commerce.

Id. (citing World-Wide Volkswagen) (internal citations omitted).

Williamson is only one of many cases recognizing that it is appropriate to assert jurisdiction over a foreign manufacturer that targets the national United States market.<sup>4</sup>

For the same reason jurisdiction was appropriate over AMPEP, it is warranted over Defendants. Defendants developed a business model reliant on selling to companies that do extensive business in all parts of the world. Thus, Defendants' CRTs make their way into Washington not through "unpredictable currents or eddies, but [through] the regular and

---

<sup>4</sup> See, e.g., Beverly Hills Fan Co. v. Royal Sovereign Corp., 21 F.3d 1558 (Fed. Cir. 1994) (jurisdiction over Chinese fan manufacturer that distributed copyright-infringing fans throughout the U.S.); Bean Dredging Corp. v. Dredge Tech. Corp., 744 F.2d 1081 (5th Cir. 1984) (jurisdiction over steel cast manufacturer that delivered thousands of products throughout U.S. as components); Oswalt v. Scripto, Inc., 616 F.2d 191, 199-200 (5th Cir. 1980) (jurisdiction over Japanese cigarette lighter manufacturer that delivered millions of lighters to U.S. distributor, did not limit the states where lighters were sold, and "had every reason to believe" its product would be sold in the forum state); Stabilisierungsfonds Fur Wein v. Kaiser Stuhl Wine Disrtibs. Pty. Ltd., 647 F.2d 200 (D.C. Cir. 1981) (jurisdiction over Australian wine producers who sold nationally, and thus "affirmatively welcomed" sales throughout the U.S.); Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, PA v. Aerohawk Aviation, Inc., 259 F. Supp. 2d 1096 (D. Idaho 2003) (jurisdiction proper over aircraft parts manufacturer where it sold to aircraft manufacturer whom "it knew to distribute its aircrafts nationally"); Motorola Inc., v. PC-Tel, Inc., 58 F. Supp. 2d 349 (D. Del. 1999) (jurisdiction proper because "[The Defendant's products] are integrated into a variety of consumer electronic products which are manufactured by well-known multi-national corporations like Compaq, Phillips, Samsung, Sharp, Sony . . . [which are] then put into world-wide distribution networks which place them for sale in equally well-known retail stores such as . . . Circuit City, CompUSA, Office-Max, Sears [etc].").

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