No. ~~70298-0~~

70298-0

King County Superior Court No. 12-2-15842-8 SEA

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

*Plaintiff/Appellant,*

v.

KONINKLIJKE PHILIPS ELECTRONICS N.V., PHILIPS ELECTRONICS  
INDUSTRIES (TAIWAN), LTD., PANASONIC CORPORATION, HITACHI  
DISPLAYS, LTD., HITACHI ASIA, LTD., HITACHI ELECTRONIC DEVICES  
(USA), INC., LG ELECTRONICS, INC., SAMSUNG SDI AMERICA, INC.,  
SAMSUNG SDI CO., LTD., SAMSUNG SDI (MALAYSIA) SDN. BHD.,  
SAMSUNG SDI MEXICO S.A. DE C.V., SAMSUNG SDI BRASIL LTDA.,  
SHENZEN SAMSUNG SDI CO., LTD., TIANJIN SAMSUNG SDI CO., LTD.

*Defendants/Respondents.*

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

*JE*

10/21/13

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

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE DOES NOT ALLOW PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER RESPONDENTS

“Due process protects the defendant’s right not to be coerced except by lawful judicial power.” *Nicastro*, 131 S. Ct. at 2785 (plurality op.). Its purpose is, in part, to “limit[] the power of a state court to render a valid personal judgment against a nonresident defendant” in order to “protect[] the defendant against the burdens of litigating in a distant or inconvenient forum.” *World-Wide Volkswagen*, 444 U.S. at 291-92. Washington’s long-arm statute, RCW 4.28.185, “authorizes courts to exercise jurisdiction over nonresident defendants [only] to the extent permitted by the due process clause of the United States Constitution.” *MBM Fisheries*, 60 Wn. App. at 423.

The Attorney General’s suit against Respondents exceeds the bounds of due process. Respondents are foreign corporations mainly headquartered in Asia and Europe with no connection to Washington. The Attorney General concedes that Washington lacks general jurisdiction over them. AOB at 6. Nonetheless, the Attorney General seeks to found jurisdiction on an unprecedented and insupportable version of the “stream of commerce” theory of specific jurisdiction. This attempt is unavailing.

In analyzing a claim of specific jurisdiction, Washington courts apply a three-part test. Specific jurisdiction may not be asserted unless:

(1) The . . . foreign corporation must purposefully do some act or consummate some transaction in the forum state; (2) the cause of action must arise from, or be connected with, such act or transaction; and (3) the assumption of jurisdiction by the forum state must not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice, consideration being given to the quality, nature, and extent of the activity in the forum state, the relative convenience of the parties, the benefits and protection of the laws of the forum state afforded the respective parties, and the basic equities of the situation.

*MBM Fisheries*, 60 Wn. App. at 423 (quoting *Tyee Constr. Co. v. Dullen Steel Prods., Inc.*, 62 Wn.2d 106, 115-16, 381 P.2d 245 (1963)). Thus, a Washington court can exercise personal jurisdiction over Respondents only if Respondents engaged in some purposeful activity in Washington, the Attorney General's claims arise from that activity in Washington, and the exercise of jurisdiction would be fair and just. While the Attorney General cites this very same standard in his brief, *see* AOB at 10, he then proceeds to ignore these elements – none of which is satisfied in this case.

**1. Respondents Did Not Commit Any Relevant Purposeful Acts In Washington**

The Attorney General can point to no evidence showing that Respondents “purposefully” acted *in Washington* in any way that gives rise to the Attorney General's alleged price-fixing lawsuit. Tellingly, the Attorney General's forty-four page opening brief entirely ignores the

extensive evidence Respondents submitted before the trial court establishing that Respondents had no substantive contacts with, or activity in, Washington. *See supra* Section III.B (describing the uncontested declarations submitted by Respondents in support of their underlying motions to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction).

Jurisdiction “cannot be imposed” absent a showing that the defendant “purposefully directed its activities toward this state.” *Grange Ins. Ass’n v. Washington*, 110 Wn.2d 752, 760, 757 P.2d 933 (1988); *see also id.* (“[T]here is no longer any doubt that a party asserting long-arm jurisdiction must show ‘purposefulness’ as part of the first due process element.”). Even “the foreseeability that an injury might occur in another state is not a ‘sufficient bench mark’ for exercising jurisdiction.” *Perry v. Hamilton*, 51 Wn. App. 936, 941, 756 P.2d 150 (1988) (citing *World-Wide Volkswagen*, 444 U.S. at 295). The purposefulness prong of the due process analysis mandates that a defendant must have intentionally targeted the forum state in particular. *See, e.g., World-Wide Volkswagen*, 444 U.S. at 296 (rejecting the notion that every seller’s “amenability to suit ... travel[s] with the chattel” he sold); *Nicastro*, 131 S. Ct. at 2788 (plurality op.) (“[I]t is not enough that the defendant might have predicted that its goods will reach the forum State.”).

In this case, the Attorney General’s Complaint does not contain a single allegation that any Respondent intentionally targeted Washington or its consumers. Respondents’ alleged purposeful conduct – the sale and manufacture of CRTs and CRT Products – occurred entirely in foreign jurisdictions and before any of the products entered Washington. The record shows that none of Respondents sold CRTs or CRT Products to Washington consumers or State agencies, the parties alleged by the Attorney General to have suffered antitrust injury, and whose purchases are the basis of the Attorney General’s claims. CP 41-42, 57-63, 85, 105, 204-05.<sup>8</sup> On this record, there is no evidence that any Respondent

---

<sup>8</sup> In the Superior Court and in its opening brief herein, the Attorney General did not contend that the CRT component part sales by SDI, SDI Mexico, and SDI Malaysia to a single Washington manufacturer and alleged co-conspirator constituted relevant jurisdictional contacts; indeed, having never even mentioned this fact in either brief, the Attorney General has waived any reliance thereon. *See* Rules of Appeal Procedure 2.5(a). Instead, the Attorney General relies exclusively on his global “stream of commerce” theory as to all Respondents.

Even if considered, these limited component sales to one manufacturer are not material to the jurisdictional analysis because the Attorney General alleges antitrust injury only to Washington consumers and State agencies for purchases of CRT finished products, and the Attorney General does not allege that the three involved SDI defendants had any control over the prices paid by the State or Washington consumers for those CRT Products. *See In re Chocolate Confectionary Antitrust Litigation*, 602 F. Supp. 2d 538, 557 (M.D. Pa. 2009) (“Mars Canada and Nestlé Canada’s production and supply of chocolate candy into the United States *bear no clear relationship to the price-fixing harms of which plaintiffs complain and*

“purposefully directed its activities toward this state.” *See Grange*, 110 Wn.2d at 760.

Indeed, the Attorney General does not allege that any Respondent had any presence in Washington – much less that any alleged conspiratorial activity occurred in Washington. Respondents are not licensed to conduct business in Washington; do not have designated agents for service of process in Washington; do not own or rent property in Washington; have never paid, or been required to file Washington state taxes; do not maintain any offices, facilities, mailing addresses, telephone numbers or employees in Washington; and have never conducted business in Washington. CP 41-42, 57-63, 85, 105, 204-05. Although these factors are typically weighed in considering general jurisdiction<sup>9</sup> – which the Attorney General concedes does not exist – the total absence of *any* activity by Respondents in, or directed at, Washington also underscores

---

*cannot support personal jurisdiction. . . . Mars Canada[']s or Nestlé Canada[']s . . . status as remote suppliers of chocolate confectionary products does not buttress the claims of alleged antitrust harm that occurred after the products left their dominion and control. . . . A plaintiff cannot hold a manufacturer liable for a price-fixing harm occurring after the product left the manufacturer's hands absent a showing that the manufacturer retained control over product pricing”* (emphasis added).

<sup>9</sup> *See generally Raymond v. Robinson*, 104 Wn. App. 627, 633-34, 15 P.3d 697 (2001) (considering activities sufficient to establish substantial and continuous business transactions in Washington).

the Attorney General's inability to identify a constitutional basis for specific jurisdiction. *See Swartz v. KPMG LPP*, 476 F.3d 756, 766 (9th Cir. 2004) ("mere 'bare bones' assertions of minimum contacts with the forum or legal conclusions unsupported by specific factual allegations will not satisfy a plaintiff's pleading burden.").

## **2. The Attorney General Cannot Satisfy The "Arising From" Requirement Of Due Process**

To meet its burden to establish personal jurisdiction, a plaintiff also must demonstrate that its injuries arose from the defendant's purposefully directed acts in the forum state. *See SeaHAVN*, 154 Wn. App. at 571. That is, a plaintiff must show that its injuries would not have occurred "but for" defendant's purposefully directed acts (*i.e.*, the "arising from" inquiry). *Shute*, 113 Wn.2d at 772.

The Attorney General fails to allege any facts that would show that the arising from requirement is met. Indeed, the Attorney General's entire argument in this regard consists of these two sentences of the opening brief. They read:

[T]his action arises from Defendants' contacts with the state. By purchasing products containing Defendants' price-fixed panels [*sic*], consumers and state agencies were harmed, and this enforcement action arises out of those purchases.

*See* AOB at 10-11.<sup>10</sup> But Respondents did not sell or distribute those CRT Products to Washington consumers or State agencies. Rather, third-party manufacturers, retailers, and distributors sold those products to consumers and State agencies. Moreover, the alleged price fixing occurred abroad.

Thus, the Attorney General’s argument entirely misses the point of the “arising from” test, which examines “*defendant’s* acts in the forum state.” *See SeaHAVN*, 154 Wn. App. at 571 (emphasis added). The Attorney General has not met his burden of demonstrating that this action arises out of Respondents’ purposeful acts directed at Washington and not from the acts of third parties. It is the unilateral activity of the third-party resellers – not Respondents – that gives rise to the Attorney General’s alleged claims. None of the allegations of the complaint arises from Respondents’ minimal to non-existent contacts with Washington. On this independent ground alone, the trial court’s judgment should be affirmed. *See LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 200-01, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989) (trial court may be affirmed on any ground supported by the record).

---

<sup>10</sup> Although the Attorney General refers to “panels” repeatedly throughout the Opening Brief, CRTs are distinct from liquid crystal display or LED “panels” that are also used in TVs and computer monitors. Such panels are not part of the claims in this case. Nor do laptop computers, also referenced in the AOB, contain any CRTs.

**3. The Attorney General's Expansive Interpretation Of The "Stream Of Commerce" Metaphor Violates Due Process**

The Attorney General asserts that the "purposeful acts" and "arising from" requirements set forth above are met merely because Respondents placed CRTs into a global stream of commerce that included Washington.<sup>11</sup> *See, e.g.*, AOB at 12-13. This is not the law. *See* Hr'g Tr. 58:6-10 (finding that the Attorney General "[is] really advocating for an expansion, or a change in the law").

A defendant's participation in the stream of commerce does not displace the constitutional mandate that "jurisdiction should only be imposed if a defendant 'purposefully avails itself' of the privilege of acting within the forum state, thereby invoking the benefits and protection of its laws." *Grange*, 110 Wn.2d at 760. Thus, a company's "mere placing of the product into interstate commerce is not by itself sufficient basis to infer the existence of purposeful minimum contacts." *Id.* at 761-762; *see also Nicastro*, 131 S. Ct. at 2788 (plurality op.) (finding that the stream of commerce metaphor "does not amend the general rule of

---

<sup>11</sup> The Attorney General's "stream of commerce" argument is inapplicable to respondents such as KPNV that did not manufacture CRTs or place them into the stream of commerce. Given that the Attorney General offers no other basis to exercise personal jurisdiction over KPNV, the Court must affirm the trial court's dismissal of KPNV.

personal jurisdiction”). The Attorney General’s argument to the contrary strains the stream of commerce metaphor far beyond its intended meaning and finds no persuasive support in the case law. On the contrary, the United States Supreme Court has consistently eschewed such a broad stream of commerce theory, including in its recent decision in *Nicastro*.

**a. The United States Supreme Court’s Jurisprudence, Including *World-Wide Volkswagen*, Forecloses the Attorney General’s Stream of Commerce Arguments**

A majority of justices in *Nicastro* explicitly rejected the argument advanced by the Attorney General that a defendant satisfies purposeful availment in a specific forum merely by placing its product into the stream of commerce intending that it reach the widest market possible. *See* 131 S. Ct. at 2788 (plurality op.); *id.* at 2791-93 (Breyer, *J.*, concurring).<sup>12</sup>

---

<sup>12</sup> The Attorney General incorrectly relies on *In re Isadore* in an effort to dodge *Nicastro*’s plurality holding. *See* AOB at 28 (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Isadore*, 151 Wn.2d 294, 302, 88 P.3d 390 (2004)). *In re Isadore* addresses treatment of Washington plurality decisions, not those of the U.S. Supreme Court. The Supreme Court’s decisions are binding when, as in *Nicastro*, a combination of opinions form a cohesive majority holding. *See Marks v. United States*, 430 U.S. 188, 193, 97 S. Ct. 990 (1977); *cf. Davidson v. Hensen*, 135 Wn.2d 112, 128, 954 P.2d 1327 (1998) (applying *Marks*). The “*Marks* rule, does not require [courts] to determine a single opinion which a majority joined, but rather [to] determine the legal standard which, when applied, will necessarily produce results with which a majority of the Court from that case would agree.” *State v. Hickman*, 157 Wn. App. 767, 774, 238 P.3d 1240 (2010) (internal citations omitted) (interpreting a plurality U.S. Supreme Court

The *Nicastro* plurality explained that, “as a general rule, it is not enough that the defendant might have predicted that its goods will reach the forum State.” *Id.* at 2788 (plurality op.); *see also id.* at 2792 (Breyer, *J.*, concurring). “[I]t is the defendant’s actions, not his expectations, that empower a State’s courts to subject him to judgment.” *Id.* at 2789; *id.* at 2792 (Breyer, *J.*, concurring). New Jersey lacked personal jurisdiction over the defendant manufacturer in *Nicastro* because while the manufacturer may have “reveal[ed] an intent to serve the *U.S. market*” it had “not... purposefully availed itself of the *New Jersey market*.” *Id.* at 2790 (emphasis added) (noting that defendant directed “marketing and sales efforts at the United States,” but did not “engage[] in conduct purposefully directed at New Jersey”); *id.* at 2792 (Breyer, *J.*, concurring) (noting that evidence “has shown no specific efforts to sell in New Jersey”); *see also Asahi Metal Industry Co. v. Superior Court*, 480 U.S. 102, 110, 107 S.Ct. 1026 (1987) (personal jurisdiction requires “something more” than placing a product into the stream of commerce).

In *Nicastro*, a two-member concurrence, authored by Justice Breyer, joined the four-member plurality. The Attorney General

---

opinion). In other words, “[w]here there is no majority agreement as to the rationale for a decision, the holding of the court is the position taken by those concurring on the narrowest grounds.” *Davidson*, 135 Wn.2d at 128.

emphasizes that this concurring opinion concluded that personal jurisdiction was not proper because the record showed few sales in New Jersey. *See* AOB at 29-30. But Justice Breyer’s concurring opinion also agreed with the plurality that a state must show a “specific effort” by a defendant “to sell in [the state]” in order to assert jurisdiction. *Id.* at 2792 (Breyer, *J.*, concurring). To hold otherwise would:

abandon the heretofore accepted inquiry of whether, focusing upon the relationship between ‘the defendant, the forum, and the litigation,’ it is fair, in light of the defendant’s contacts with that forum, to subject the defendant to suit there. It would ordinarily rest jurisdiction instead upon no more than the occurrence of a product-based accident in the forum State. But this Court has rejected the notion that a defendant’s amenability to suit ‘travel[s] with the chattel.’

*Id.* at 2793 (Breyer, *J.*, concurring) (internal citations omitted).

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